RECEIVED

Sep 09 2024

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

Trial Court Case No. 2022-CP-23-04923
Appellate Case No. 2023-001265

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Michael Carl Zieminski,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Appellant respectfully submits his brief on appeal of his three convictions from the Summary/Magistrate's Court on September 1, 2022 and the orders of the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh denying his appeal.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. WAS IT AN ERROR OF LAW FOR THE CIRCUIT COURT TO HOLD THAT APPELLANT WAS REQUIRED TO SERVE HIS NOTICE OF APPEAL ON THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PURSUANT TO SCRCP NO. 4(d)(4)(B), EVEN THOUGH THE STATE IS A PARTY AND THE APPEAL WAS NOT AN ACTION ATTACKING THE CONSTITUTIONALITY OF A STATE STATUTE?
2. IS APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO AN APPEAL THWARTED, DUE TO NO FAULT OF HIS OWN, BY THE LACK OF A SUFFICIENTLY COMPLETE RECORD, WHICH ALSO PREJUDICED HIM?
3. WHAT IS THE APPROPRIATE REMEDY FOR THE LACK OF A TIMELY, SUFFICIENT RECORD OF THE TRIAL IN THE MAGISTRATE'S COURT IN THIS CASE?
4. WAS THE APPELLANT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL JURY BY THE CREATION OF AN ATMOSPHERE HOSTILE TO THE DEFENSE AND FAVORABLE TO THE PROSECUTION THROUGH THE MAGISTRATE'S COMMENTS, RULINGS AND FAILURE TO MAINTAIN THE INTERGRITY OF HIS COURTROOM?

5. DID BOTH THE MAGISTRATE'S COURT AND THE CIRCUIT COURT HAVE THE RIGHT AND DUTY TO INTERPRET THE CONSTRUCTION OF THE ORDINANCE AT ISSUE AND TO DO SO WHILE APPLYING THE RULE THAT PENAL LAWS ARE STRICTLY CONSTRUED PURSUANT TO THE RULE OF LENITY?
6. WAS EXPERT VETERINARY TESTIMONY NECESSARY FOR THE PROSECUTION TO PROVE ITS CASE WHEN THE CODE SECTION AT ISSUE FAILS TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT DETAIL AND GUIDANCE AND RAISED ISSUES OUTSIDE OF NORMAL LAYPERSON EXPERTISE?
7. WAS THE OVERRULING OF MICHAEL'S OBJECTION TO THE INTRODUCTION OF A GRAPHIC PHOTO OF A DOG'S UNRELATED MEDICAL CONDITION MORE PREJUDICIAL THAN PROBATIVE AND THUS AN ABUSE OF DISCRETION?
8. TAKEN AS A WHOLE, DO THE CUMULATIVE ERRORS, SUCH AS THE FAILURE TO PROVIDE A TIMELY, REVIEWABLE RECORD, TO MAINTAIN THE INTEGRITY OF THE COURTROOM, TO REQUIRE EXPERT VETERINARY TESTIMONY AND TO PREVENT INTRODUCTION OF A PHOTO WHOSE ONLY PURPOSE TO EXCITE THE JURORS' EMOTIONS, ADD UP TO A VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY AND REQUIRE A DISMISSAL OF THE CASE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 1, 2022, the Appellant, Michael Zieminski (Michael) was convicted by a Magistrate's Court jury of three violations of a local ordinance regarding treatment of animals in Greenville County, S.C. Michael owned three dogs at the time of the charges. Michael was sentenced to \$500.00 fines or 20 days in jail concurrent on each offense. Fees were added to the fines in the amount of \$325.00 each. He timely filed a Notice of Intent to Appeal on September 7, 2022.

The Summary Court Judge (hereafter Magistrate) did not timely file a Return on Appeal as is required by Rule 18 of the Magistrate Court Rules and Section 18-7-60 of the S.C. Code of Laws, Annotated (1985). The Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court was filed on September 7, 2022 and the Magistrate's Return was filed on June 9, 2023, Nine months later. Several documents from the Magistrate Court file were filed just before the hearing of the appeal in the Circuit Court. Further, the Magistrate Court failed to successfully record the proceedings so it was impossible for a transcript of testimony to be prepared.

The appeal to the Circuit Court was heard by the Honorable Lawton McIntosh on June 28, 2023, who denied the appeal by orders filed July 11, 2023 (Form 4), and July 20, 2023. Michael filed a Motion for Reconsideration on July 25, 2023, that was denied by an order filed on August 1, 2023, (Form 4).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“Questions of statutory interpretation are questions of law, which are subject to de novo review and which we are free to decide without any deference to the court below. *Transp. Ins. Co. &*

Flagstar Corp. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund, 389 S.C. 422, 427, 699 S.E.2d 687, 689 (2010); *Catawba Indian Tribe of S.C. v. State*, 372 S.C. 519, 524, 642 S.E.2d 751, 753 (2007). *State v. Whitner*, 399 S.C. 547, 732 S.E.2d 861 (S.C. 2012).

"[P]enal statutes are to be strictly construed. This rule of lenity applies when a criminal statute is ambiguous, and requires any doubt about a statute's scope be resolved in the defendant's favor." *State v. Miles*, 421 S.C. 154, 164, 805 S.E.2d 204, 210 (Ct. App. 2017). "One of the foundations of the rule of lenity is the concept of fair notice—the idea that those trying to walk the straight and narrow are entitled to know where the line is drawn between innocent conduct and illegality." *Id.* "Criminal ordinances are, of course, to be strictly construed and a defendant has a right to know just wherein he is charged with the commission of a crime" *Town of Conway v. Lee*, 209 S.C. 11, 18, 38 S.E.2d 914, 917 (1946).

"In reviewing criminal cases, this court may review errors of law only." *State v. Henderson*, 347 S.C. 455, 457, 556 S.E.2d 691, 692 (Ct.App.2001) (internal citations omitted), cert. denied, Mar. 22, 2002. *City of Landrum v. Sarratt*, 352 S.C. 139, 572 S.E.2d 476 (S.C. App. 2002)

FACTS

There are few facts to be stated here because the Record of Appeal prepared by the Magistrate contains very few facts. Some facts are provided below. During the trial the prosecution called two witnesses: an animal control officer and an employee from the County codes section. Michael Zieminski testified on his own behalf. During the trial a dog entered the courtroom and visited the jurors in the jury box. No veterinary experts testified.

ARGUMENT

1. APPELLANT DID NOT HAVE TO NOTIFY THE ATTORNEY GENERAL IN THIS CASE PURSUANT TO SCRCP NO. 4(d)(4)(B).

The Circuit Court Judge, while hearing arguments on the appeal, *sua sponte* raised the issue of whether the S.C. Attorney General had been notified of the appeal from the Magistrate's Court convictions. (R. pp. 2-6) Apparently the Judge based his ruling against Michael on this issue on a misinterpretation of SCRCP No. 4(d)(4)(B): "When Unconstitutionality of Statute Is Asserted. In any action attacking the Constitutionality of a State statute when the State, officer or agency is not made a party, a copy of the summons and complaint shall be sent by registered or certified mail to the Attorney General." The rule requires that a plaintiff mail a copy of the summons and complaint to the Attorney General only when the State is not a party to the action, which it was in the case at bar. Additionally, the appeal to the Circuit Court was not an action attacking the Constitutionality of a state statute. It was an appeal that raised the issue of the constitutionality of a county ordinance.

2. APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO AN APPEAL WAS DENIED BY THE LACK OF A SUFFICIENT RECORD, WHICH IS NOT HIS FAULT AND HE IS PREJUDICED BY THAT FAILURE.

Facts needed for further analysis of the case:

That on or about the 25th day of February, 2022, Appellant was arrested at his home for an

unrelated matter and taken into custody by Greenville County Sheriff deputies. They discovered three dogs and three cats in the home so they requested the dispatch of the County Animal Control officers. The animal control officers found the three dogs, but not the three cats. Later, when Michael went to retrieve his dogs, he was served with three court summons charging him with cruelty to animals in violation of a County Ordinance.

Argument

The thrust of the State's case was that Michael's house, where the dogs lived with him, was insanitary. After a jury trial in the Greenville County Magistrate's Court, where no veterinary medical expert testimony was presented by the County, Michael was convicted on all three charges and sentenced alternatively to fines or consecutive terms of imprisonment.

After the Notice of Appeal was filed, the Summary Court Judge (hereafter Magistrate) did not file a Return until June 9, 2023, nine months after the trial. In fact, the Magistrate waited until after Michael filed his first Brief on Appeal. The Magistrate failed to file his Return within the 30 day deadline set forth in the South Carolina Code of Laws:

SECTION 18-7-60. Return; when and how made.

The court below shall thereupon, after ten days and within thirty days after service of the notice of appeal, make a return to the appellate court of the testimony, proceedings and judgment and file it in the appellate court.

The Return in this case is skeletal at best - 12 sentences plus photographs and miscellaneous documents that are not relevant to the issues raised by the appeal. It recounts no testimony, nor much of the proceedings. (R. pp. 89-90)

A Record on Appeal is also required by Rule 18 of the Magistrate Court Rules. It reads, in part:

(b) Within thirty (30) days of the date of filing of the notice of appeal with the Circuit Court, the magistrate shall file the return to the notice of appeal with the

Clerk of the Circuit Court for the county wherein the judgment was rendered, together with the record, a statement of all proceedings in the case, and, if necessary, the testimony taken at trial.

The unexplained nine month delay in preparing the Record also appears to violate Canon 3(B)8 of the S.C. Codes of Judicial Conduct. Rule 501, SCACR. IN RE MCCULLOUGH, 354 S.C. 207, 580 S.E.2d 143 (S.C. 2003). Additionally, the Magistrate filed several documents from his court file on June 28, 2023, which was the same day as oral arguments on the appeal in the Circuit Court. It would have been helpful to Michael's counsel to review them before the argument.

Appellant raised the issue of an inadequate return in his Amended Brief and his Motion to Reconsider, but the Circuit Court failed to rule on it. (R. pp. 18-19, 26) (R. pp. 56-58) Respondent included the following argument in its Brief, but the Court apparently chose not to follow the procedure set-forth in the cited statute. When a Circuit Court deems a Magistrate Court's return inadequate, S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-80 (1985) provides a procedure that the Circuit Judge may choose to follow:

If the return be defective the appellate court may direct a further or amended return as often as may be necessary and may compel a compliance with its order. And the court shall always be deemed open for this purpose.

S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-80 (1985).

Although the extremely sparse Return includes a claim by its author that Michael did not raise the Constitutional issues that are raised in his appeal (which Defense Counsel contends is inaccurate), doing so would not have put this appellate court in any better position to review this case because the lower court basically supplied no record. Even if Appellant's counsel had made

the exact same arguments, word for word, during the trial that he made in this brief to the Circuit Court, they would not have appeared in the Magistrate's Return. "The law does not require a party to perform a useless act. *United States v. Conti*, 64 F.Supp. 187 (D.Mass.1946), aff'd, 158 F.2d 581 (1st Cir.1946); *DeFee v. Kaley*, 119 Ga.App. 538, 167 S.E.2d 758 (1969). 2..." *Orange Bowl Corp. v. Warren*, 300 S.C. 47, 386 S.E.2d 293 (S.C. App. 1989).

If the Record had been filed in a timely manner, the parties would have had an opportunity to move that the record be reconstructed. As it was, so much time had passed that an accurate reconstruction of the record was doubtful and with the additional passage of time is even more doubtful. Without an adequate record of the trial, especially testimony, objections, arguments and rulings, it is very difficult for Michael to effectively argue his appeal or for this Appellate Court to have a sufficient record to review.

The failure of the Magistrate to provide an accurate and complete record of the trial prejudices Michael by preventing him from showing how the judge was hostile to his defense attorney by denial of most, if not all, of the objections he made and preventing Michael from testifying on some subjects. The lopsided granting of objections made by the State's attorney and the denial of the introduction of Michael's testimonial evidence and his attorney's objections alone show prejudice. However, it is the way the lower court made those rulings that was prejudicial. For example, the record fails to show how the Magistrate granted the County Attorney's objection to testimony by the Defendant at a Bench-Bar Conference loudly enough for the jury members to hear when he exclaimed that he "had grown up on a farm" and therefore personally knew about the subject matter, which was animal manure, and clearly implied that Defense Counsel was stupid or attempting to mislead the jury.

Further, the cumulative impact of the Magistrate's rulings against the Defense and the outburst during the Bench/Bar conference was to invalidate the defense case in the eyes of the jury, just as the inappropriate comments about an advocate's gender by the trial judge in an important case did:

Here, the judge commented to the jury upon the attorney's age and gender. As the dissent stated in *State v. Mitchell, supra*, "[t]he remarks of the court tended to impugn the credibility of counsel and to diminish him and his defense of appellant in the eyes of the jury." 261 S.C. 461, 200 S.E.2d 453. Prejudice to Pace is evident on this record since his attorney's credibility was crucial to his defense of alibi. We hold that these remarks undermined counsel's ability to effectively represent her client and constituted reversible error.

State v. Pace, 316 S.C. 71, 74 (S.C. 1994)

The Magistrate's timing of his filing of the Return demonstrates his partiality. He waited long past the time limit imposed by S.C. law, until the Appellant filed his Brief on Appeal, and then filed his paltry record, but included a statement specifically challenging the right of the Defendant to argue unconstitutionality in that Brief, i.e. "The defendant did not raise the constitutional questions at the time of trial thust [sic] he seeks to use to reverse this case." (R. pp. 89-90)

Why did the Magistrate go out of his way to help the State in this unusual manner? In his Return he also submitted only black and white copies of the photos that were introduced during the trial in his Return making it difficult for Michael to show the Circuit Judge how egregiously the colored photos of the medical condition found on one of the dogs were enhanced, making the wound appearance more shocking. (R. p. 84)

What are the constitutional questions the Magistrate is referring too? He has absolutely no evidence other than his possible memory upon which to base that claim. If there was a proper

record, then the Appellate Courts would decide if the issues were raised, not the trial judge. The primary constitutional arguments can be found in the briefs submitted to the Circuit Court, which are incorporated by reference herein. (R. pp. 9-30, 49-52)

Michael does not have to prove that the trial judge was partial. Judges have a duty to avoid the appearance of partiality. Canon 2, Code of Judicial Conduct, SCACR Rule 51.

"A fair trial in a fair tribunal is a basic requirement of due process. Fairness of course requires an absence of actual bias in the trial of cases. But our system of law has always endeavored to prevent even the probability of unfairness. To this end no man can be a judge in his own case and no man is permitted to try cases where he has an interest in the outcome. That interest cannot be defined with precision. Circumstances and relationships must be considered. This Court has said, however, that 'Every procedure which would offer a possible temptation to the average man as a judge * * * not to hold the balance nice, clear, and true between the State and the accused denies the latter due process of law.' * * * Such a stringent rule may sometimes bar trial by judges who have no actual bias and who would do their very best to weigh the scales of justice equally between contending parties. But to perform its high function in the best way 'justice must satisfy the appearance of justice.' * * *".

Sheppard v. Maxwell, 231 F.Supp. 37 (S.D. Ohio 1964)(emphasis added).

When a dog entered the Courtroom and visited the jurors in the jury box, a matter that will be discussed in more detail elsewhere, the magistrate made light of the situation. That callous attitude toward the seriousness of the proceedings is difficult to show without a transcript. The Record does not clearly show that these issues of a fair trial were not raised.

Our supreme court has cautioned that issue preservation "is not a 'gotcha' game aimed at embarrassing attorneys or harming litigants." *Atl. Coast Builders & Contractors, LLC v. Lewis*, 398 S.C. 323, 329, 730 S.E.2d 282, 285 (2012).

"While it may be good practice for us to reach the merits of an issue when error preservation is doubtful, we should follow our longstanding precedent and resolve the issue on preservation grounds when it clearly is unpreserved." *Id.* at 330, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (emphasis added)... .

Johnson v. Roberts, 812 S.E.2d 207, 422 S.C. 406 (S.C. App. 2018).

The Record is barren and fails to provide the detail needed by Michael to show all the errors that accumulated to deny him a fair trial. Like the farmer in the Parable of the Sower, Michael's appeal efforts are hindered by such barren ground. Matthew 13:19-30 *NABRE*.

3. DISMISSAL IS THE APPROPRIATE REMEDY FOR THE LACK OF AN ADEQUATE RECORD OF THE TRIAL IN THE MAGISTRATE'S COURT.

It is well established law in South Carolina that an Appellate Court can remand a case to the trial judge with instructions to attempt to reconstruct the record. When a sufficient record can not be reconstructed the case should be remanded for a new trial. *State v. Ladson*, 373 S.C. 320, 324-25, 644 S.E.2d 271, 273 (Ct. App. 2007). However, if the record is sufficient to allow the Court to perform its review, then it should do so.

It is doubtful that the record can be reconstructed in this case because there is no recording of the testimony, objections, arguments or rulings on objections or motions. There must not be good notes taken by the Magistrate or he would have provided a better Return. So much time has passed that he could not possibly accurately remember important elements of the trial. At a minimum Michael is entitled to a new trial, but he submits that with all the unusual aspects and errors in this case that the charges against him should simply be dismissed.

4. MICHAEL WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL BEFORE AN IMPARTIAL JURY BY THE CREATION OF AN ATMOSPHERE HOSTILE TO THE DEFENSE AND FAVORABLE TO THE PROSECUTION THROUGH THE MAGISTRATE'S

COMMENTS, RULINGS AND FAILURE TO MAINTAIN THE INTERGRITY OF
HIS COURTROOM.

The Magistrate failed to maintain a disciplined courtroom and allowed a dog to enter the back door and go into the jury box where several jurors petted it. Nothing was immediately done to stop this unusual interruption of the trial. The Magistrate had a duty to react quickly to stop this highly prejudicial action and investigate why it happened, but he did neither. Were it to happen in a traffic offense trial or a trial of contract dispute case, it would not have been prejudicial, but this was a case specifically concerning cruelty to dogs.

It was clear that the wandering dog was in the custody of a County employee who had it in the back corridor. That such factors affect jurors can not be doubted and can be further explored by a reading of a 2013 article. The Juror as Audience: The Impact of Non-Verbal Communication at, Trial from *Oregon State Bar Litigation Journal*, published by Janet Lee Hoffman and Andrew Weiner, Fall 2013. Another good law review article on some aspects of the subject, how do non-evidentiary factors affect jurors and their verdicts see, Levenson, Laurie L., "Courtroom Demeanor: The Theater of the Courtroom" (2008). *Minnesota Law Review*. 582. <https://scholarship.law.umn.edu/mlr/582>.

Why that dog was present in the building at that time was never explained. Its release to wander into the courtroom was never explained either. Why did the County officer who was the custodian of the dog feel so comfortable that he or she could bring a dog into the building without reproach was never answered. This was no coincidence and a mistrial should have been declared by the court.

“The right to a fair trial by an impartial jury in a criminal prosecution is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment to the U. S. Constitution and by Article I, § 14, of the S. C. Constitution. While this right does not require a "perfect" trial, the very heart of a "fair trial" embodies a disciplined courtroom wherein an accused's fate is determined solely through the exercise of calm and informed judgment.

State v. Stewart, 278 S.C. 296, 295 S.E.2d 627 at 630 (S.C. 1982)”

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