**RECEIVED**

**Sep 11 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
R. Lawton McIntosh, Circuit Court Judge

---

C.A. No. 2022-CP-23-04923  
APPELLATE CASE No. 2023-001265

---

The State ..... Respondent,

v.

Michael Carl Zieminski ..... Appellant.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Christopher R. Antley  
S.C. Bar No. 13631  
Andrew N. Price  
S.C. Bar No. 100976  
County of Greenville  
301 University Ridge, Suite N-4000  
Greenville, SC 29601  
(864) 467-7110  
(864) 467-5964-Facsimile  
cantley@greenvillecounty.org  
aprice@greenvillecounty.org

*Attorneys for the Respondent

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

## ARGUMENT

**I. This Court lacks authority to consider Appellant’s challenges to the validity of the County’s animal cruelty ordinance as he failed to preserve his arguments for appellate review.**

This Court should elect not to consider the Appellant’s arguments challenging the constitutionality of the County’s animal cruelty ordinance because the Appellant’s failure to preserve these issues for appellate review removes this Court’s authority to entertain them on appeal. When acting in an appellate capacity, a South Carolina court must refrain from considering issues that were not raised to and ruled upon by the court below:

[A] great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.

*Elam v. SCDOT*, 361 S.C. 9, 23, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779-80 (2004). The requirement to preserve issues for appellate review applies equally to criminal cases appealed from a state magistrate court. *See, e.g., State v. Taylor*, 411 S.C. 294, 299, 768 S.E.2d 71, 74 (Ct. App. 2014) (“In criminal appeals from magistrate ... court, the circuit court does not conduct a de novo review, *but instead reviews for preserved error raised to it by appropriate exception.*”) (emphasis added). To preserve an issue, the Appellant must both raise the issue to the lower court and obtain a ruling. *E.g., Smith v. NCCI, Inc.*, 369 S.C. 236, 247–48, 631 S.E.2d 268, 274 (Ct. App. 2006) (“When a trial court

does not explicitly rule on an argument raised, and the appellant makes no Rule 59(e), SCRCF, motion to obtain a ruling, the appellate court may not address the issue.”).

The Record on Appeal in this matter is devoid of any evidence that the Appellant raised these issues to the magistrate court or obtained a ruling. To the contrary, the Magistrate’s Return, filed in compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 18-7-60, expressly states, “The defendant did not raise the constitutional questions at the time of trial [that] he seeks to use to reverse this case.” (R. p. 90). Because the Appellant has failed to establish that he preserved these issues for appellate review, this Court should not consider them and should affirm the Appellant’s convictions.

In addition, the ordinances at issue were included in the jury charge without objection. As the requirement for appellate preservation is dispositive, this Court may exercise the discretion to dispose of the remainder of Appellant’s appeal resolved by the failure to preserve. *See Futch*, 335 S.C. at 613, 518 S.E.2d at 598 (an appellate court may decline to address issues remaining when disposition of a prior issue is dispositive).<sup>1</sup>

Finally, Appellant’s generic one-sentence incorporation by reference of constitutional arguments found in prior briefing submitted to the Circuit Court fails to preserve and present issues to this Court for appellate review. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 10). In order for an issue to be properly presented for appeal, the appellant’s

---

<sup>1</sup> Such is the case with Appellant’s argument that the Circuit Court erred in addressing notice to the Attorney General. Appellate review of non-dispositional technical service requirement is not necessary for the adjudication of this appeal. (Appellant’s Initial Brief, p. 5).

brief must set forth the issue the statement of issues on appeal. See Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; appellant's brief must set forth the issue in the statement of issues on appeal. See Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR; *Langehans v. Smith*, 347 S.C. 348, 352, 554 S.E.2d 681, 683 (Ct. App. 2001); *Silvester v. Spring Valley Country Club*, 344 S.C. 280, 543 S.E.2d 563 (Ct.App.2001). Even if an issue is preserved at the trial court level, it must still be properly raised and argued to the appellate court. *S.C. Dep't of Transp. v. M & T Enterprises of Mt. Pleasant, LLC*, 379 S.C. 645, 667 S.E.2d 7 (Ct. App. 2008); see *Fields v. Fields*, 342 S.C. 182, 191, 536 S.E.2d 684, 689 (Ct.App.2000) (stating "issues not argued in the brief are deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal.") (citing *First Sav. Bank v. McLean*, 314 S.C. 361, 363, 444 S.E.2d 513, 514 (1994)); see also *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. and Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct.App.2001) (stating "a one sentence paragraph raised in an appellants brief was insufficient to preserve the argument for review.").

An appellate brief must be divided into as many parts as there are issues to be argued, and an issue is not preserved for appeal if appellant's brief does not conform to these requirements. See Rule 208(b)(1)(D), SCACR; *Watson v. Chapman*, 343 S.C. 471, 540 S.E.2d 484 (Ct.App.2000). Further, it is error for the appellate court to consider issues not properly raised to it. *First Sav. Bank*, 314 S.C. 361, 444 S.E.2d 513 (1994) (stating appellant must provide authority and supporting arguments for his issue to be considered raised on appeal); *Tirado v. Tirado*, 339

S.C. 649, 530 S.E.2d 128 (Ct.App.2000) (holding that an issue which is not supported by authority or sufficiently argued is not preserved for appellate review).

Similar to this Court's holdings in *Glasscock* and *M & T Enterprises*, a one sentence line incorporating arguments presented in briefing to another court is insufficient to preserve, much less properly present, unargued issues before this Court for consideration. This Court should likewise refrain from scouring the record and inferring arguments on behalf of Appellant. See *Timpson v. Anderson Cnty. Disabilities & Special Needs Bd.*, 31 F.4th 238, 250 (4th Cir. 2022) citing *United States v. Dunkel*, 927 F.2d 955, 956 (7th Cir. 1991) (*per curiam*) (explaining that “[j]udges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in [the record]”). Therefore, Appellant failed to preserve or present the issue of ordinance constitutionality before this Court.

## **II. The County's Animal Cruelty Ordinance is valid and enforceable.**

Even if the Appellant had preserved his constitutional challenges to the County's ordinance, this Court should affirm the convictions because the County's animal cruelty ordinance is a valid and enforceable ordinance enacted as part of a legitimate exercise of the County's police power. Any evaluation of the validity of a County ordinance begins with the general rule that “an ordinance is a legislative enactment and is presumed to be constitutional.” *Sunset Cay, LLC v. City of Folly Beach*, 357 S.C. 414, 425, 593 S.E.2d 462, 467 (2004). The first question, then, is whether Greenville County had the authority to enact Section 4-19 of its Ordinances.

Section 4-19 provides, *inter alia*:

(a) Any person who *abuses* an animal, aids another person in abusing an animal, or causes or permits an animal to abuse another animal, *by acting or failing to act*, shall be in violation of this section. Cruelty to an animal includes, but is not limited to, the following:

(1) Failing to provide *adequate humane care*;

\* \* \* \* \*

(4) Failing to provide adequate shelter, sustenance, space, exercise, bedding, *and sanitary conditions* for the animal;

\* \* \* \* \*

(c) The owner or person having ownership, charge or custody of an animal cruelly abused, treated or used, etc., as enumerated in this section, who is convicted of any violation of this section of the article, forfeits ownership, charge, or custody of the animal, and at the discretion of the court, the person who is convicted of a violation of this section may be ordered to pay costs incurred to care for the animal and related expenses.

Greenville County Ord. § 4-19 (emphasis added). (R. p. 45). The County’s ordinance defines “abuse” to include “an act or negligent harming [of] any animal, including, but not limited to depriving adequate food, water, shelter, ventilation, *care*, space or veterinary care,” County Ord. § 4-11 (emphasis added). (R. p. 46). The term “care” is defined as:

*Care (adequate humane)*. Attention to the needs of an animal, including but not limited to, providing adequate water, food, shelter, bedding, *sanitary condition*, ventilation, space, exercise and veterinary medical attention necessary to maintain the health of the animal with regard to its specific age, size, species and breed.

County Ord. § 4-11 (emphasis added). (R. p. 47). Finally, the ordinance defines “unsanitary conditions” as:

Animal living space, including shelter and exercise area, contaminated by health hazards, irritants, items or conditions that endanger or pose a risk to an animal's health, including but not limited to:

- I. Excessive animal waste;
- II. Garbage, trash or effluent;
- III. Standing water or mud;
- IV. Rancid/contaminated food or water;
- V. Fumes, foul or noxious odor, air, hazardous chemicals or poisons;
- VI. Decaying material;
- VII. Uncontrolled parasite or rodent infestation; and
- VIII. Areas that contain nails, screws, broken glass, broken boards, pits, poisons, sharp implements or other items that could cause injury, illness or death to an animal.

County Ord. § 4-11 (emphasis added). (R. p. 48).

The South Carolina Constitution and state statutes grant broad authority to counties to enact local ordinances:

All counties of the State, in addition to the powers conferred to their specific form of government, have *authority to enact regulations, resolutions, and ordinances*, not inconsistent with the Constitution and general law of this State, including the exercise of these powers in relation to health and order in counties *or respecting any subject as appears to them necessary and proper for the security, general welfare, and convenience of counties or for preserving health, peace, order, and good government in them*. The powers of a county must be liberally construed in favor of the county and the specific mention of particular powers may not be construed as limiting in any manner the general powers of counties.

S.C. Code Ann. § 4-29-50 (emphasis added); S.C. Const. Art. VIII, § 17 (“The provisions of this Constitution and all laws concerning local government shall be liberally

construed in their favor.”).<sup>2</sup> In addition, the South Carolina legislature has expressly delegated its authority to counties to regulate this area of the law:

The governing body of each county or municipality in this State may enact ordinances and promulgate regulations for the care and control of dogs, cats, and other animals and to prescribe penalties for violations.

S.C. Code Ann. § 47-3-20. Greenville County clearly had the authority to enact its animal cruelty ordinance.

The Appellant also contends that the state law has preempted the County ordinance. A review of preemption law, however, quickly dispatches this argument. “To preempt an entire field, an act must make manifest a legislative intent that no other enactment may touch upon the subject in any way.” *S.C. State Ports Auth. v. Jasper Cnty.*, 368 S.C. 388, 395, 629 S.E.2d 624, 627 (2006). South Carolina recognizes three types of preemption: (1) express preemption, (2) implied field preemption, and (3) implied conflict preemption. *Sandlands C & D, LLC v. Cnty. of Horry*, 394 S.C. 451, 462-469, 716 S.E.2d 280, 285-289 (2011).

“Express preemption occurs when the General Assembly declares in express terms its intention to preclude local action in a given area.” *Sandlands C & D, LLC*, 394 S.C. at 462, 716 S.E.2d at 286 (*quoting Ports Auth.*, 368 S.C. at 397, 629 S.E.2d at 628). Rather than announce an intent to preempt this field, the state announced the opposite by delegating authority to local governmental bodies to regulate the field. Express preemption is inapplicable to the County’s ordinance.

---

<sup>2</sup> This delegation of authority to local government is commonly referred to as “Home Rule.”

It is equally clear that the state has not impliedly preempted the County from enacting an ordinance in the field of the care and control of dogs. Implied field preemption occurs “when the state statutory scheme so thoroughly and pervasively covers the subject so as to occupy the field or when the subject mandates statewide uniformity.” *Sandlands*, 394 S.C. at 465, 716 S.E.2d at 287. Instead of enacting state laws evincing an intent to occupy the field of regulation in this area, the state expressly delegated authority to regulate the care and control of animals, including dogs, to the counties. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 47-3-20 (“The governing body of each county or municipality in this State may enact ordinances and promulgate regulations for the care and control of dogs, cats, and other animals and to prescribe penalties for violations.”); *Sandlands*, 394 S.C. at 466, 716 S.E.2d at 288 (“Where the General Assembly specifically recognizes a local government's authority to enact local laws in the same field, the statutory scheme does not evidence legislative intent to occupy the entire field of regulation.”).

Finally, the state has not preempted the County under an implied conflict analysis. “Implied conflict preemption occurs when the ordinance hinders the accomplishment of the statute’s purpose or when the ordinance conflicts with the statute such that compliance with both is impossible. *Sandlands*, 394 S.C. at 467, 716 S.E.2d at 288. Here, the state’s animal cruelty statute sets a baseline for what constitutes prohibited conduct, and the County’s animal cruelty ordinance merely supplements the state prohibitions by enlarging the acts that constitute animal cruelty. *Compare* S.C. Code Ann. § 47-1-40 *and* County Ord. §§ 4-19 and 4-

11. See *Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston*, 352 S.C. 208, 214, 574 S.E.2d 196, 199 (2002) (holding that additional regulation that supplements state law does not conflict with state law). Also, the County's animal cruelty ordinance's inclusion of unsanitary conditions as specie of animal cruelty does not conflict with the state's statute -- enforcement of the County ordinance does not interfere with state law or render compliance with state law impossible. *Sandlands*, 394 S.C. at 467, 716 S.E.2d at 288 ("Implied conflict preemption occurs when the ordinance hinders the accomplishment of the statute's purpose or when the ordinance conflicts with the statute such that compliance with both is impossible."). In fact, South Carolina law is silent as to whether subjecting a dog to unsanitary conditions constitutes animal cruelty. *Id.* at 468, 716 S.E.2d at 288 ("Mere differences in detail do not render them conflicting. If either is silent where the other speaks, there can be no conflict between them. Where no conflict exists, both laws stand.").

By enacting its animal cruelty ordinance, Greenville County did what the legislature intended the County to do -- the delegation of this authority to the County upends any preemption argument or argument that the ordinance violates the South Carolina Constitution. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the convictions. These arguments also address the appellant's claim that the ordinance conflicts with state law in violation of Article VIII, § 14 of the South Carolina Constitution.

Next, citing no authority in support, the Appellant makes a naked allegation that the ordinance is unconstitutionally vague. He cites no authority that defines

what standard the Court should use to assess the claim. Instead, he argues by anecdote against the ordinance and cites English playwrights, the Scrivener's subjective perceptions of odors, and various articles discussing the utility and necessity of fecal matter. (Appellant's Initial Brief, pp. 14, 16, 17, 19-21). These arguments and citations appear to be more appropriate for a jury argument than to address in an appellate challenge to the validity of an ordinance.

This approach to the vagueness issue renders it abandoned, and this Court should not address the merits of the issue. *See Palmer v. State*, 427 S.C. 36, 47, 829 S.E.2d 255, 261 (Ct. App. 2019) ("An issue is deemed abandoned and will not be considered on appeal if the argument is raised in a brief but not supported by authority."); *Equivest Fin., LLC v. Ravenel*, 422 S.C. 499, 506, 812 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2018) ("When a party provides no legal authority regarding a particular argument, the argument is abandoned and the court will not address the merits of the issue.").

However, the outcome of this appeal should remain the same even if the Court were to consider the argument. A county ordinance "is a legislative enactment and is presumed to be constitutional." *E.g., McMaster v. Columbia Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 395 S.C. 499, 504-05, 719 S.E.2d 660, 662-63 (2011).

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